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2. What you will learn on this programme 

 
This programme will expose you to operational financial and accounting issues that form a 

part of everyday business. The programme will assist you in the development of your financial 

literacy and commercial understanding of a broad range of financial and accounting issues. In 

addition, you will be exposed to the impact that finance has on other parts of the business 

including strategy, marketing, HR and operations. 

 

As a manger that needs to make decisions based on a number of inputs, it is important to 

have an understanding of the big picture relating to the business, this involves more than just 

looking at the numbers. More importantly it involves the ability to question the information that 

you have been provided with and to ensure that you can make decisions based on the right 

information. This programme will assist you to be able to ask the right questions. 

 

The following will be covered: 

 

• The big picture of business 

• The use of funding in business 

• Profit, margin and volume 

• Cost classification 

• Cost behaviour 

• Cost allocation 

• Break even analysis 

• Income statements 

• Balance sheets 

• Cashflows 

• Working capital 

• Accounting concepts 

• Financial analysis 

• Budgeting 

• Capital budgeting 

• Accounting transaction process 

• Discounted cashflows 

• Time value of money 

• Net present value 
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3. Test Your Knowledge Exercise 1 
 

1. Your business is making losses, what alternatives, as a manager do you have 

available to you to change this? 

2. You are the owner of a successful furniture manufacturing business and you are 

considering expanding your product range by 25%. What are the issues that you 

should be considering?  

3. Give 2 examples of a high margin, low volume business. 

4. Give 2 examples of a low margin, high volume business. 

5. You are considering starting a business, what alternatives do you have available to 

source funding? 

6. Which of the following are variable expenses? 

a. Cost of sales 

b. Commission on sales 

c. Salaries 

d. Rent 

e. Product packaging 

7. Which of the following are direct expenses? 

a. Head office expenses 

b. Cost of sales 

c. Commission on sales 

8. What are the implications of holding too much inventory? 

9. What are the implications of holding too little inventory? 

10.  You own a TV sales business. Each TV costs you R3 000 and you are able to sell for 

R3 500. If your monthly fixed expenses are R30 000, how many TV’s do you have to 

sell to break even. 

11. What is the % increase from 80 to 128? 

12. What is the % decrease from 80 to -20? 
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4. Test Your Knowledge Exercise 2 
1. An increase in a company's gearing will bring about a corresponding increase in 

a. Financial Distress 

b. R.O.N.A. 

c. Interest Cover 

d. R.O.E 

 

2. What can we assume if the gross profit decreases from one year to the next, but operating 

profit actually goes up? 

a. That interest payments have increased 

b. That depreciation has got out of control 

c. That we have enjoyed increased efficiency with expenses 

d. That shareholders are withdrawing excessive dividends 

 

3. Which of the following is the most correct definition of depreciation? 

a. The lose in value of an asset over time 

b. The writing off of the amount spent on an asset over its expected useful life 

c. The expensing of capital expenditure over multiple financial periods 

d. The writing down of assets through the income statement 

 

4. The liquidity ratios are best described as 

a. An indicator of the efficiency of the company's cash management 

b. A predictor of a company's ability to meet its S-T debt  

c. A measure of whether the company is insolvent or not 

d. A guideline on whether a company can increase their gearing  

 

5. The operating profit of ABC Ltd has increased over that of last year, but their E.A.T. has 

come down. If we know that tax has remained the same, we could assume that 

a. Their interest bill has decreased  

b. They have geared up  

c. Their gross margins are down 

d. They have retired interest bearing debt 

 

6. If 20 000 new Rl.00 shares were issued at a premium of Rl.70, what is the total amount of 

money that the company would receive? 

a. 14 000 

b. 20 000 

c. 34 000 

d. 54 000 
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7. Creditors are taking an average of 33.8 days to be paid and cost of sales for the year 

amounted to 32 440, calculate the creditor's total value (to the nearest Rand) 

a. 89                            

b. 960                                     

c. 1 842 

d. 3 004 

 

8. Which of the following would not result in an increase in cash flows? 

a. The disposal of fixed assets 

b. An increase in creditors 

c. A rise in stock holdings 

d. A new share issue 

 

9. When preparing a cash flow statement, we start with the operating profit then add back the 

non-cash items. These may include which two items 

a. General & Admin costs and Depreciation 

b. Amortisation and Staff Costs 

c. Selling Costs and Cost of Sales 

d. Amortisation and Depreciation 

 

10. The process of charging income-generating units with centralised indirect costs is known 

as 

a. Marginal costing 

b. Carrying Head Office 

c. Overhead allocation 

d. Break-even Analysis 

 

11. If debtors on the balance sheet amount to 14 320 and this had grown to 28 550 by the 

next balance sheet; the cash flow statement would record this as 

a. An outflow of 14320 

b. An inflow of 14 320 

c. An outflow of 14 230. 

d. An inflow of 14 230 

 

12. The marginal cost is best described as 

a. The cost of protecting your GP margin 

b. The cost of producing one more thing 

c. The effect of outsourcing on profitability 

d. Per unit contribution 
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5. Profit Exercise 
 

Gross Profit is calculated by multiplying the margin by the number of products sold (the 

volume) and then deducting the expenses. A business sells crumb- rubber underlays, they 

sell 10,000m2 in the month of February at a price of R20/m2, therefore sale are R200,000 for 

the month. If each m2 of underlay costs R12 to make then the margin is R8 and the cost of 

sales is R120,000 and the gross profit is R80,000. If you multiply the margin of R8 by the 

volume of 10 000 you also get R80,000. The break down of price cost and margin can be 

represented as follows: 

 

 

1m2 of underlay sells for    R20 

1m2 of underlay costs        R12 

Margin        R8 

 

If we assume that the business has monthly expenses of R60,000 then we can work out the 

monthly profit and represent it in the following form: 

 

 

Income statement for the month of February 2012 

Sales (10,000 x R20)     R200,000 

Cost of sales (10,000x R12)   R120,000 

Gross margin / profit      R80,000 

Expenses       R60,000 

Net profit       R20,000 

 

 

What happens if we change one or more of the variables in the profit calculation. Remember, 

we can only change the margin, the volume or the expenses or all three. 
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5.1 Profit Exercise 1 
What happens if we reduce the sales price to R18 and sell 10,000 units? How many more m2 

of underlay will have to be sold to make a net profit of R20,000? 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 

 

5.2 Profit Exercise 2 
What happens if we increase the selling price to R22 and sell 10,000 units? 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 

 
5.3 Profit Exercise 3 
What happens if the cost of materials is reduced by R0.50 to R11.50/m2 and we sell 12,000 

units? (Use the original selling price). 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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6. Break-even Questions 
6.1 B/E Question 1 
A business buys and sells one product. The cost of the product is R70 and the selling price is 

R100. The business has a monthly fixed cost of R3,000. 

a) What is the monthly break-even point expressed in units? 

b) What is the monthly break-even expressed in Sales? 

c) If you sell 600 units in one month and the above figures apply, what will the profit be? 

 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 

 

6.2 B/E Question 2 
A business manufactures one product. The cost of producing each unit is R200. The selling 

price of each unit is R300. The business has a monthly fixed cost of R50,000. 

a) What is the monthly break-even point expressed in units? 

b) What is the monthly break-even expressed in Sales? 

c) How many units need to be sold to make a profit of R40,000 

d) If a second shift is introduced and the monthly fixed costs are increased to R80,000 

what will be the new answers to a), b), and c)? 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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6.3 B/E Question 3 
Hips & Co produces a product that sells for R40.00 per unit. Variable costs to manufacture 

and sell the unit amount to R30.00 per unit. Fixed costs and expenses are going to amount to 

R50,000 per period. 

a) Calculate the break-even point in Sales. 

b) Calculate the pre-tax profits to be expected on sales of R400,000. 

c) Calculate the sales required to produce a pre-tax profit of R40,000. 

d) Calculate the sales revenue required to produce an after tax profit of R20,000 if the 

tax rate is 25%. 

e) If the company wished to increase the after tax profit by R5,000 what increase in sale 

revenue is required? 

f) If basic salaries to the sales personnel were to be increased by R4,000, calculate the 

increase in sales that would be required in order to cover the increase. 

g) The sales manger believes that sales revenue can be increased by R80,000 if he is 

given additional funds for a sales promotion. What is the maximum amount that he 

may be allowed to spend so that the company does not lose money on the 

promotion? 

 

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________ 
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6.4 B/E Question 4 
ABC Trading produces a product that sells for R110.00 per unit. Variable costs to 

manufacture and sell the unit amount to R80.00 per unit. Fixed costs and expenses are 

going to amount to R150,000 per period. 

h) Calculate the break-even point in Sales. 

i) Calculate the pre-tax profits to be expected on sales of R800,000. 

j) Calculate the sales required to produce a pre-tax profit of R120,000. 

k) Calculate the sales revenue required to produce an after tax profit of R50,000 if the 

tax rate is 29%. 

l) If the company wished to increase the after tax profit by R15,000 what increase in 

sale revenue is required? 

m) If basic salaries to the sales personnel were to be increased by R12,000, calculate 

the increase in sales that would be required in order to cover the increase. 

n) The sales manger believes that sales revenue can be increased by R100,000 if he is 

given additional funds for a sales promotion. What is the maximum amount that he 

may be allowed to spend so that the company does not lose money on the 

promotion? 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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6.5 B/E Question 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Complete the following: 

1. What would be the effect on the 2013 net profit of Tools & Co if the sales increased 

by 20% while the ratio of variable expenses to sales and the amount of fixed expense 

remained unchanged? 

2. What would be the effect on the 2013 net profit if the existing manager were to retire 

and was replaced by a new manager for a salary of R60,000 per year? (Apply this 

information to this question only). 

3. What could sales decline to before operations resulted in a net loss, assuming that 

the ratio of variable expenses to sales and the amount of fixed expense remained 

unchanged? 

4. If Tools & Co wanted to achieve a net profit of R100,000 in 2013 and all the other 

factors are expected to behave as they did in 2012, what sales would be needed? 

5. What would the break-even (expressed in sales) be if the gross profit percentage 

were reduced from 22.6% to 20%? 

 

Tools and Co    
    
Income statement for the year ended 31 July 2012 
    
  % of sales 
Sales 1,500,000 100%  
    
Variable expenses 1,161,000 77.4%  
Cost of goods 1,005,000 67.0%  
Commissions 60,000 4.0%  
Royalties 75,000 5.0%  
Transport 12,000 0.8%  
Cash discounts 3,000 0.2%  
Consumables 6,000 0.4%  
    
Gross profit 339,000 22.6%  
    
Fixed expenses 309,000   
Depreciation 10,000   
Insurance 20,000   
Rent 60,000   
Manager's salary 80,000   
Wages 63,600   
Electricity & water 5,400   
Equipment hire 16,000   
Subscriptions 15,000   
Advertising 39,000   
    
Net profit before tax 30,000   
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__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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7. Other resource related questions 
 

7.1 Resource Question 1 
Your company’s purchasing manager has approached you with a plan that has been 

suggested to him by a major supplier. Essentially it involves purchasing a six months supply 

of a product which is the main raw material that your company uses. Your company is 

required to take immediate delivery of the order but in return will receive a substantial 

discount. The purchasing manager is excited and eager to do the deal. 

 

What factors should you take into consideration before giving him the go-ahead to place the 

order? 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________ 
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7.2 Resource Question 2 
You are the maintenance manager of a large factory. You have been instructed to calculate 

the hourly rate, which will cover all of your department’s costs for your maintenance staff who 

will be charged out by the hour. 

 

Use the following information: 

a) The maintenance department occupies 200 m2 in a 20,000 m2 factory, for which the 

company pays a monthly rental of R100,000. 

b) Your salary is R48,000 per month. 

c) The original cost of the equipment that your department uses was R60,000 and it is 

being depreciated equally over a period of 5 years. 

d) The average hourly rate paid to your staff is R15 per hour. This excludes the R2,000 

per month that is paid to your administrative assistant. 

e) The company contributes R200 per month per person that is employed in your 

department for medical aid. 

f) Ignore any other costs such as UIF, WCA, company contributions to pension funds, 

etc. 

g) There are 10 maintenance staff in your department 

h) Maintenance staff are paid for a 40 hour week. 

 

Show all of your workings and make any assumptions that you feel are necessary to 

calculate the rate. All assumptions must be explained in your workings. 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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7.3 Resource Question 4 

You are the manager of a retail outlet, which has the following departments: 

a) Bakery 

b) Butchery 

c) Groceries 

d) Delicatessen 

Discuss on what basis you would allocate the follwing indirect expenses/costs to the 

different departments: 

1) Store manager’s salary 

2) Store rental 

3) Electricity 

4) Salaries clerks’ cost 

5) Goods receiving staff wages 

6) Cleaning staff wages 

7) Cashier/packaging staff wages 

 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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8. Cost Allocation Exercise 
 

Income statement 
 

Details Total Underlays Laminated Adhesives Accessories 
      
Sales 3,000,000 1,900,000 600,000 300,000 200,000 
Direct costs 1,800,000 1,250,000 160,000 270,000 120,000 
Direct materials 1,600,000 1,140,000 100,000 240,000 120,000 
Direct wages 200,000 110,000 60,000 30,000 0 
Gross profit 1,200,000 650,000 440,000 30,000 80,000 
Indirect costs 1,000,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 
Rent 220,000         
Wages 100,000      
Equipment leases 20,000      
Insurance 30,000      
Electricity 25,000      
Water 15,000      
Management staff 220,000      
Admin staff 300,000      
Repairs & 
maintenance 20,000      
Royalty fees 50,000         

Net profit 200,000.00 400,000.00 190,000.00 
-

220,000.00 -170,000.00 
 

 

After consultation with the accountant, the book keeper and managing director, it was decided 

to take a systematic approach to each of the line items that make up the indirect costs and 

allocate them in an appropriate manner. 

 

Let’s look at how they went about the exercise. 

 

1. If you take a close look at the adhesives and accessories divisions you will notice that 

they made a net loss based on the above allocation method. However those divisions 

did make a gross profit and therefore contributed towards covering the overhead of 

the whole business. Based on this it would not be advisable to close these divisions 

because this could result in the loss of the contribution of R120,000. 

2. Rental allocation: How much space in the building does each of the divisions 

occupy? It was agreed that the divisions occupied the following space: Underlays – 

60%; Laminated products – 20%; Adhesives – 10% and Accessories – 10%. 

 

3. Wages allocation: How many people work in each of the departments? There are 8 

in Underlays, 5 in laminated and 1 each in Adhesives and Accessories. 
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4. Equipment lease: Which department used the leased equipment? The leased 

equipment was a fork lift and it was shared 1/3, 1/3, 1/3 between Underlays, 

Laminated products and Adhesives. 

 

5. Insurance: the MD noted that most of the insurance cost was associated with the 

stock holding in the Underlays division and that 80% of the cost should be allocated 

to that division. The rest was allocated to the Adhesives division 

 

6. Electricity: The manufacturing lines consumed most of the electricity and it was 

agreed to split the cost by allocating 1/3 each to  Underlays, Laminated products and 

Adhesives 

 

7. Water: the bulk of the water was consumed by the Adhesives business and it was 

therefore agreed to allocate 85% of the cost to that division and the 5% to each of the 

other divisions. 

 

8. Management staff: Where did the manager spend his time? The MD confirmed that 

he spent 70% of his time in the Underlay division and the remaining time was split 

equally between the other 3 divisions. 

 

9. Admin staff: It was agreed that the admin staff spent their time equally in all of the 

divisions. 

 

10. Repairs and Maintenance: This whole cost was allocated to the Underlays division 

as it was the only division that incurred this cost due to age of the equipment. 

 

11. Royalty fees: The royalty agreement was related to the manufacture and sale of 

Underlays and therefore was responsible for the entire cost. 
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Based on the above cost allocation exercise the accountant drew up the following cost 

allocation income statement: 

 

 

Details Total Underlays Laminated Adhesives Accessories 
      
Sales 3,000,000 1,900,000 600,000 300,000 200,000 
Direct costs 1,800,000 1,250,000 160,000 270,000 120,000 
Direct materials 1,600,000 1,140,000 100,000 240,000 120,000 
Direct wages 200,000 110,000 60,000 30,000 0 
Gross profit 1,200,000 650,000 440,000 30,000 80,000 
Indirect costs 1,000,000 536,083 190,083 147,417 126,417 
Rent 220,000 132,000 44,000 22,000 22,000 
Wages 100,000 53,333 33,333 6,667 6,667 
Equipment leases 20,000 6,667 6,667 6,667 0 
Insurance 30,000 24,000 0 6,000 0 
Electricity 25,000 8,333 8,333 8,333 0 
Water 15,000 12,750 750 750 750 
Management staff 220,000 154,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 
Admin staff 300,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 
Repairs & 
maintenance 20,000 20,000 0 0 0 
Royalty fees 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 
Net profit 200,000.00 113,916.67 249,916.67 -117,416.67 -46,416.67 

 

 

Rent Allocated on the basis of square metres occupied by each department 

Wages dept Allocated on the basis of the number of people in each department 

Debtors dept Allocated according to the credit sales of each department 

Equipment 
lease costs 

Allocated on the basis of the usage of the equipment by each department 

Insurance Allocated on the basis of the value of the insured assets in each department 

Interest on 
LTD 

Allocated on basis of which department uses the assets that are being 
financed by the debt 

Electricity Allocated on the basis of estimated usage 

Manager Allocated on the basis of where he spends his time 
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9. Mikes Restaurant Case 

 
Mike’s Restaurant  (PTY) LTD 

 
It was early February 2012, and Jake Long, chief executive officer and general manager of 

Mike’s Restaurant (Pty) Ltd, was reviewing the 2011 financial results of his young but solvent 

company. While the firm had shown a profit almost right from its inception, Jake was of the 

opinion that he needed to find ways to improve its profit margin prior to the firm's planned 

expansion into two additional locations. 

 

Company Background 

The company was based in Illovo, Johannesburg. The firm had one restaurant in operation 

but, as noted above, planned to open two additional facilities within the next 12 months. This 

expansion was to be financed by a group of investors whom Mr. Long had known for a 

number of years. 

 

Mr. Long had previously been the regional manager for Gauteng for a nationwide restaurant 

chain. He resigned from that position in late 2009 in order to go into business for himself. By 

the time he was able to come up with the concept, the design, the location, and the financing 

for his new venture, it was March of 2010. The first location of his 'hoped for" chain of 

restaurants opened for business on September 15, 2010. 

 

Despite his 15-year track record in the restaurant business, Jake spent a very large portion of 

his time directly involved with the operation of this first restaurant during both the latter part of 

2010 and the entire year of 2011. He felt that it was important for him to fully understand and 

analyse every aspect of the operation of this pilot site. 

 

At the present time, however, Jake was concerned about the overall reported profitability of 

the restaurant during 2011. As this restaurant was to be the model against which other, 

newer, locations would be compared, he wanted to make sure that it was as profitable as it 

should be. 

 

Restaurant Profitability 

A recent discussion with the firm's auditors had led Jake to conclude that some analysis was 

in order. In this discussion, the auditor had noted that some of the more successful local 

chains had managed to earn as much as 15 to 18 percent return (pre-tax) on sales. As Mike’s 

Restaurant was operating well below this level (see Exhibit 1), Jake felt that a review was in 

order. While he didn't want to prejudge how the current margin might be improved, Jake was 

reasonably certain that increased volume would play only a small part. This belief was based 

on the premise that the current volume - which had been quite good right from the start - was 
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such that the restaurant operated at near capacity two or three evenings of the week. In 

addition, the lunch hour traffic had been quite good. 

 

Jake decided to try to determine the restaurant's break-even point - both under current 

operating conditions and under the assumption that changes might be possible in the sales 

price, the variable costs, and/or the level of fixed costs. In order to sort out the data so that 

this type of analysis could be performed, Jake had rearranged the cost data from the 

operating statement such that it portrayed both fixed and variable components of the overall 

level of costs incurred (see Exhibit 2). 

 

Jake believed that the numbers shown (Exhibit 2) were representative of what the firm might 

expect to face in the coming year with three exceptions. First, the labour cost (both direct and 

salaries) would probably rise by about ten percent (10%). Second, the cost of raw materials 

(food costs) was expected to increase by about twenty percent (20%) during the coming year. 

Finally, all other costs (including payroll tax) except depreciation and interest expense were 

expected to grow (on average) by about ten percent (10%). Jake felt that the charge for 

depreciation, and for interest would remain virtually unchanged. In terms of the mix of entrees 

sold, he believed that any growth was likely to be fairly evenly distributed across both the 

overall menu and the lunch versus dinner dimensions. 

 

Jake believed that the maximum practical capacity of the restaurant was about 20% higher 

than the average 2011 daily volume. Getting anywhere near that volume figure, however, 

would not be a particularly easy task. Further, he knew that the projected cost increases 

noted above would serve to lower the firm's overall return on sales. Thus, raising the firm's 

margin to the 15% to 18% range might prove-to be difficult. 
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Exhibit 1    
Mike's Restaurant     
Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2011 
    
Sales   574,217   
    
Cost of goods   368,590   
Direct labour   175,653   
Food cost   192,937   
    
Gross profit   205,627   
    
Expenses   131,212   
Advertising   8,462   
Auto & travel   2,541   
Cleaning   2,109   
Depreciation   6,880   
Insurance   11,224   
Laundry   1,816   
Professional fees   2,100   
Rates    1,500   
Rent   19,200   
Repairs & maint   1,620   
Managers Salary   26,800   
Supplies   6,423   
Taxes, payroll   19,217   
Telephone   1,820   
Utilities   19,500   
    
PBIT   74,415   
Interest   12,400   
    
PBT   62,015   
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Exhibit 2 
Mike's Restaurant    
Revised data for operations  
   
Sales   574,217  
   
Variable costs   351,798  
Direct labour 80%  140,522  
Food cost 100%  192,937  
Laundry 85%  1,544  
Supplies 70%  4,496  
Payroll taxes on labour 64%  12,299  
   
Gross profit   222,419  
   
Fixed costs   160,404  
Direct labour            20%  35,131  
Advertising   8,462  
Auto & travel   2,541  
Cleaning   2,109  
Depreciation   6,880  
Interest   12,400  
Insurance   11,224  
Laundry            15%  272  
Professional fees   2,100  
Rates    1,500  
Rent   19,200  
Repairs & maint   1,620  
Managers Salary   26,800  
Supplies            30%  1,927  
Taxes, payroll            36%  6,918  
Telephone   1,820  
Utilities   19,500  
   
PBT   62,015  
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Mike’s Restaurant Questions 
 

1. Determine the sales figure at which the firm reached the break-even point in the 

current year (2011). At what figure will it reach the break-even point in the coming 

year (2012)? (For purposes of this question, you may assume no increase in unit 

sales price and that the split between variable and fixed costs as shown by Jake Long 

is an acceptable one.) 

10 marks 

 

2. Assuming a constant level of unit sales, analyse potential changes in each of the 

following and determine what would be needed to produce a profit before tax figure of 

R115 000 in 2006:                               

 

a. the sales price (keep all variables constant except for price); 

 

b. the variable cost (keep all variables constant except for Variable costs); 

                                    

c. the fixed cost (keep all variables constant except for fixed costs) .                  

   30 marks 

 

3. Assuming no change in the sales price per unit and that the cost structure would be 

as outlined for the coming year, what percentage increase in sales volume would be 

needed in order to produce a profit before tax figure of R115,000? 

10 marks 

 

4. What would you recommend to be the best course of action for Jake to follow in order 

to achieve a profit before tax figure of R115,000?  Explain how you would achieve 

this.   

 

(NOTE: this question is for 50 marks and cannot be answered in a 5 line paragraph, 

you need to use numbers and detailed explanations as to what changes you will 

make in order to achieve this profit) 

50 marks 
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10. Income Statements & Balance Sheets Introduction 
Exercise 

How accountants calculate profits: Basic financial accounting exercise 

A distant cousin of yours had inherited some money so he was able to realise his life long 

ambition to set up in business and sell that well known financial publication, the National 

Review. He put R5 000 into the business, arranged to get any additional funds required from 

his friendly local bank manager and started trading on 1 January 2010. 

The first thing he did was to buy himself a high performance Izuzu Frontier for R4,000. 

During his first year's trading he bought and paid for 100 National Reviews (50 @ R40 and 50 

@ R50 each). He sold 80 of them for R80 each, partly on cash and partly on credit. 

He also pays cash for other expenses (R580) incurred during the year. 

At the end of his first year's trading he wishes to ascertain his financial position and, having 

heard that you are involved in business, asks you to work out his business's profit (or loss) 

position and its financial position. 

He also gives you the following information: 

At the end of the year he is still owed for four publication sold on credit. Three of these had 

been bought by Standard Bank and the fourth by Rod Miller who was last seen boarding a 

plane bound for China. 

He hopes that the Isuzu will last for at least four years and should be worth at least R1,000 as 

a trade-in in at that time. Advertisements in the newspaper showed that the market value of 

the Izuzu at the 31 December 2010 was R3,500 - R3,750. 

In addition: 

a)      You must work out the business’s cash balance. 

b)      Ignore tax, dividends, interest, inflation and anything else you don't understand. 

c)      You may find the attached worksheets useful. 

d)    If the numbers are not big enough for you, just keep adding noughts to make them 

bigger. 
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Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2010 

Sales       R 

Deduct Cost of Sales    R 

Opening stock (1/1/10)  

Add purchases 

Less Closing Stock (31/12/10)  

Gross profit      R 

Deduct expenses:     R  

1. Depreciation 

2. Bad debts 

3. Other expenses 

Profit Before Interest and Tax 
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Cash Balance Calculation 
Cash in: 
 Own cash introduced 
 

R 
 Collections from customers 

 
R 
 Total collected A 

 
R 
  

 Cash out: 
 Purchase of Izuzu 
 

R 
 Purchase of stock 

 
R 
 Other cash expenses 

 
R 
 Total cash out B 

 
R 
 Cash Balance (A-B) 

 

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2010 
Assets: 
 

Equity & Liabilities: 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 Total Assets 

 
R 
 

Total Liabilities 
 

R 
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11. Fully Worked Income Statement and Balance Sheet 
Example 

 
We start our tyre business (it's a company) and during the first month the following happens, 

we: 

1. Pay in our share capital of R100,000 

2. Buy equipment costing R30.000 and pay for it. We estimate it will last 5 years. 

3. Buy 500 tyres costing R60 each and pay cash 

4. Buy 400 tyres costing R70 each on credit 

5. Sell 700 tyres at a selling price of R100 

6. You have expenses of R15,000 which we pay before the end of the month. 

7. You borrow R20,000 from a bank, repayable at the end of five years (the interest rate is 

24% per annum payable monthly 

8. You are still owed for 100 tyres that we sold during the month 

9. You hear that a customer who bought 4 tyres on credit was last seen loading a 

container with his car in it and his phone has been cut off 

10. The current tax rate is 40% 

Our task is to prepare an income statement and balance sheet 

First the Income Statement: 

Quick Tyre (Pty) Limited 
Income Statement for the month ended 30 June 2012 

 

1 Sales  70,000 
2 Cost of Sales  44,000 
3 Opening stock  0 
4 Purchases  58,000 
5 Closing stock  14,000 
6 Gross profit  26,000 

    
 Total expenses  15,900 

7 Expenses  15,000 
8 Depreciation  500 
9 Bad debts  400 

10 PBIT  10,100 
11 Interest  400 
12 PBT  9,700 
13 Tax  3,880 
14 PAT  5,820 
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Calculation of the bank balance or net cash position: 

 

 Money in:  
 Share capital 100,000 
 Loan from bank 20,000 

15 Received from customers 60,000 
 Total receipts (A) 180,000 
   
 Money out:  

16 Paid for tyres 30,000 
 Paid for equipment 30,000 
 Paid for expenses 15,000 

17 Interest paid 400 
 Total payments (B) 75,400 

   
18 Net cash position (A - B) 104,600 

 

Quick Tyre (Pty) Ltd  

Balance sheet as at 31 June 2012 

 Capital employed  
19 Share capital  100,000 
20 Retained earnings 5,820 

 Shareholders funds 105,820 
    

21 LT loans  20,000 
 Total capital employed 125,820 
    
 Employment of capital  

22 Fixed assets  29,500 
 At cost  30,000 

less Accumulated depreciation 500 
    

23 Net current assest 96,320 
24 Current assets  128,200 
25 Stock  14,000 
26 Debtors  9,600 
27 Cash  104,600 

    
 Current liabilities 31,880 

28 Creditors  28,000 
 Tax  3,880 

 
Total employment of 
capital 125,820 
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There are usually notes to financial statements. The notes' below are similar to those that you 

will find on financial statements but there are additional explanations – especially those 

regarding where subjectivity can play a role in calculating profit. The numbered notes below 

refer to the same numbers on the financial statements above.  

 

1. Sales. In our example this is the 700 tyres at R100. Note that this is the total sales, 

both for cash and on credit. Remember, we do the accounting on an accrual basis. 

You have probably heard the word turnover. If you look at companies' published 

financial statements there will be an explanation as to what that company means by 

turnover. In general usage, however, people tend to use the words interchangeably. 

 
2. Cost of sales. This is the cost of the raw materials that were required to make the 

finished goods that were sold. This can be worked out as follows: 

 

Opening stock + purchases – closing stock = Cost of sales 

 

3. Opening stock. In the above example it was nil because we were starting a new 

business. Next month the "closing stock" (note 4) will be our opening stock. Stock 

should, in terms of current guidelines, be referred to as inventory.  

 

4. Purchases. These are the things which a business buys for resale, in our example - 

tyres. If we buy things that will not be sold by us in the normal course of business 

then they will not be included in purchases. If they are fixed assets they will be 

charged to the appropriate asset account (see below) or if they are things like 

stationery and stamps they will be charged to the expense accounts stationery and 

postage respectively. 

 

5. Closing stock. In our example we assumed that the 200 tyres that remained unsold 

(we bought two lots, 500 @ R60 and 400 @ R70, and sold 700) and that that the 

ones that remained had cost us R70 (therefore closing stock is 200 x R70 = R14 

000). In doing so we are using the First in First out (FIFO) method (FIFO). This 

means, in theory, that the first tyres that came in were the first to go out. In reality, 

however, this need not physically be the case (although this is recommended for the 

dairy section of food stores). We also could have used an average (simple R60 + R70 

- 2 = R65 or weighted = total purchase price - by total units i.e. R58 000 - 900 = 

R64.44). It does not stop there. The management's view (of the value of stock) is also 

used to value stock. If the management is of the opinion that some stock may be 

obsolete and not likely to be sold easily (or at all) they may decide to decrease its 

value as far as the preparation of financial statements is concerned. 
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What would the effect be of using different methods of valuing stock? 

Value of closing stock: 

 

First in first out - 200 @ R70 = R14 000 

Simple average - 200 @ R65 = R 13 000 

Weighted average - 200 @ R64.44 = R12 888 

 

6. Gross profit. This is the profit that is made on the sale of goods before any fixed 

expenses are paid.  

 

7. Expenses. These are the running costs of the business. Note how the income 

statement contains a trading area (Sales - cost of sales = Gross profit) with the 

operating expenses (costs) of the business shown separately after the gross profit 

figure. When you look at the published financial statements of large companies you 

will not see this much detail. Disclosure requirements are such that they only have to 

disclose turnover and then operating profit. They do not have to disclose their gross 

profit and detailed expenses. The amount of detail shown on financial statements 

varies from company to company. The financial statements used internally will 

contain as much detail as management needs (or asks for) and will have 

comparisons between actual figures and budgeted figures (see Budgeting). In the 

instructions for the preparation of the above financial statements we were told that all 

of the expenses were paid before the end of June. If we had only paid R10,000 of the 

R 15,000 we would have accrued the R5,000 thereby including it although it has not 

been paid. We do this to match the expenses with the revenue (sales) for the month. 

This is known as the 'matching concept.’ 

 

8. Depreciation. When we depreciate an asset we deduct an amount (called a 
provision for depreciation - we will only know the actual depreciated value of an asset 

when we sell it) from the original cost of the asset to reflect its decline in value over 

time. The amount that assets are depreciated by is also added to the expenses of the 

business. The amount of depreciation is usually determined by estimating the useful 

life of an asset (in the above example we were told that the equipment will last for 5 

years so we divided R30 000 by 60 months to get the depreciation figure for one 

month) and then depreciating the asset over its useful life thereby matching the cost 

(the depreciation) with the revenue earned by using the asset. An asset is not 

reflected as a cost when it is bought. If cash is paid (cash means by cheque or cash) 

for an asset then it affects the cashflow of the business and not the profits - only the 

amount of depreciation affects the profits. Subjectivity? Management determines the 

depreciation period and therefore the amount of depreciation. If we show only the net 

book value on the balance sheet then in the notes we have to show: 
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Fixed assets at cost                     R30,000 
Less accumulated depreciation                                  R500 
Net book value                                                       R29,500 
 

 

9. Bad debts. If there is the slightest doubt (accountants exercise prudence remember) 

that a debtor (a debtor is someone who owes the business money) will not pay, we 

will make a provision for this. This means that we deduct the amount of the provision 

from the total debtors (accounts receivable) and add the amount of the provision to 

expenses. On the above balance sheet we showed the debtors net of the provision 

(i.e. after the provision has been deducted). Making provision for doubtful debts does 

not mean that they are written off. We still attempt to collect the money. 

 

10. Profit Before Interest and Tax (PBIT). This is the Gross profit less the 

running/overhead expenses. 

 

11. Interest. This is the interest expense relating to the long term and short term debt in 

the business. We identify this expense separately because it is an expense that is 

related to the financing of the business and not the operations. It also help us to 

easily identify the expense without having to go to the list of expenses and identify it 

separately. 

 

12. Profit Before Tax (PBT). This is the PBIT less the interest expense. 

 

13. Tax. This is the tax amount that is due based on the tax rate. 

 

14. Profit After Tax (PAT). This is the net profit that the business made for the trading 

period and is the amount that gets carried over to the balance sheet. This can be 

referred to as the Retained Earnings. 

 

15. Received from customers. Although we sold 700 units we were still owed for 100 

(Sales R70,000 less the 100 not paid for – R10,000). This obviously affects our cash 

balance, but it does not affect profit as we show sales as R70,000 i.e. all the units 

sold, whether we have been paid or not. 

 

16. Paid for Items. Although we bought a total of 900 tyres we only paid for 500 (at R60) 

i.e. R30,000. We however show all 900 (which cost R58,000) as purchases in order 

to calculate our cost of goods sold (often shortened to 'cost of sales'). 

17. Interest paid. Twenty-four percent of R 20,000 is R4,800; R4,800 - 12 gives us the 

monthly interest paid of R400. Nothing was paid off the loan as we were told that the 

loan is repayable at the end of 5 years. 
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18. Net cash position This is the net result of the money in less the money out and will 

be the cash amount in the balance sheet. 

 

19. Share capital. This was the amount paid in by the owner. Because the business is 

an ‘accounting entity' and we do accounting from the perspective of the business, this 

is shown as a liability. An alternative to this is to pay in a nominal amount as share 

capital and instead introduce cash to the business in the form of a shareholders loan. 

 

20. Retained earnings. The profits left in the business by the owners (shareholders) less 

any dividends paid. There were no dividends in our example. Profits retained in the 

business enable a business to reduce its borrowings or to acquire more assets. This 

item is the link between the balance sheet and the income statement. 

 

21. Long Term Loans. This is money that has been borrowed by the business for a 

period that is longer than one year. 

 

22. Fixed Assets. These are always shown at cost less the accumulated depreciation. 

 

23. Net Current Assets. This is sometimes referred to as the net working capital and is 

calculated by subtracting the current liabilities from the current assets. 

 

24. Current assets. This is the sum of all the independent items such as, stock, debtors 

and cash. 

 

25. Stock. This is the inventory that is held by the company. It can be made up of raw 

materials, work in progress and finished goods. 

 

26. Debtors (Accounts receivable). This is money that is owed to the company by 

customers who have bought their goods on credit. 

 

27. Cash. This is the actual cash position at the end of the trading period and is the 

amount that has been determined in the cash flow. We cannot just look at our bank 

account and use that number, first we must do a reconciliation in order to determine if 

all of the transactions that have been taken into account in the accounting process 

have been processed or taken into account when working out the cash balance. 

 

28. Creditors. These are the suppliers to the business who have provided the business 

with materials but have not been paid by the business yet as the business has 
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arranged credit terms and may only be required to pay in 30, 60 or 90 days 

depending on the terms. 

 

NOTES: 

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________ 
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12. The Tyre Business Exercise 
The transactions are the same as in the example but the amounts have been changed. 

We start our tyre business (it's a company) and during the first month the following happens, 
we: 

1. pay in our share capital of R50,000; 

2. buy equipment costing R36,000 and pay for it. We estimate it will last 5 years; 

3. buy 500 tyres costing R70 each and pay cash; 

4. buy 400 tyres costing R80 each on credit; 

5. sell 700 tyres at a selling price of R110; 

6. the business has expenses of R 12,000 which we pay before the end of the month; 

7. borrow R30,000 from a bank, repayable at the end of five years (the interest rate is 

24% per annum payable monthly); 

8. the business is still owed for 150 tyres that we sold during the month; 

9. we hear that a customer who bought 10 tyres on credit was last seen loading a 

container with his car in it and his phone has been cut off; 

10. the current tax rate is 40%. 

 

Income Statement for the month ended 30 June 2013 

Sales   
Cost of Sales   
Opening stock   
Purchases   
Closing stock   
Gross profit   
   
Total expenses   
Expenses   
Depreciation   
Bad debts   
PBIT   
Interest   
PBT   
Tax   
PAT   
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Cash flow 

 

 Money in:  
 Share capital  
 Loan from bank  

 Received from customers  
 Total receipts (A)  
   
 Money out:  

 Paid for tyres  
 Paid for equipment  
 Paid for expenses  

 Interest paid  
 Total payments (B)  

   

 Net cash position (A - B)  
 

 

Balance sheet as at month ended 30 June 2013 

 Capital employed  
 Share capital   
 Retained earnings  

 Shareholders funds  
    

 LT loans   
 Total capital employed  
    
 Employment of capital  

 Fixed assets   
 At cost   

Less Accumulated depreciation  
    

 Net current assets  
 Current assets   
 Stock   
 Debtors   
 Cash   

    
 Current liabilities  

 Creditors   
 Tax   
 Total employment of capital  
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13. All-Star Agencies (Pty) Ltd 
 

Ashok and Pravin are equal shareholders in a small agency selling foam rubber products to 

industries on the east rand. They sell ready-made products from their supplier, who allows 

them to take most of their stock on consignment. Things had been going well for the last few 

years, but the elimination of an import tariff means that they will have to compete with cheap 

Asian imports next year. This is expected to reduce demand and/or profitably significantly. 

Pravin has been approached by a UN group to supply them with foam mattresses for 

humanitarian work in Central Africa and feels that this large 4-year contract is just what is 

needed to save the business. The problem is that it will require All-Star to set up their own 

manufacturing plant as the product does not form part of their existing range. This will require 

taking on a large amount of debt to fund the initial capital investment. Ashok is not interested 

in this as he hates debt (All-Star has never even had an overdraft facility) and recognises that 

his expertise is in sales and NOT manufacturing.  

 

Pravin has come to you during the Christmas shutdown and asked you to help him examine 

the impact of his proposed plan for 2014. Before you can do that you need to finalise this 

year’s accounts; the following information is available for the year ended 31st December 

2013:- 
 

1. Sales for the year amounted to R4,000,000 (All on credit). 80% of which was paid 

across to the supplier and 20% retained by All-Star as their commission/margin. 

2. The authorised share capital of All-Star was 1,000,000. Of this only 200 000 shares of 

R1 each had been issued – 100,000 each to Ashok and Pravin at incorporation. 

3. The closing stock take showed inventory to the value of R79,000 on hand at the end of 

the year. 

4. General and Admin costs for the year totalled R85,000 while Selling costs were 7½% of 

Sales. 

5. At year-end All-Star still owed their sole supplier R232,800 for goods used but not yet 

paid for. 

6. The company’s only fixed asset were a fleet of five delivery vehicles that were 

depreciated at a rate of R225,000 per annum. The NBV of the vehicles (which were all 

purchased at the same time) at the end of 2013 was R450,000. 

7. The tax rate is 35% of pre-tax earnings and All-Star’s dividend policy was to pay out 

20% of annual earnings after tax. 

8. Last year’s balance sheet showed retained earnings at the end of 2012 to be 

R523,000. 

9. The actual Debtors figure was not available, but Pravin knew that they took an average 

of 44 days to pay. 
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10. As there was no overdraft or long-term debt, there was no interest expense for the 

year. 

11. As the bookkeeper was on leave the exact cash position at year-end was not known. 

 

Pravin’s plan for 2014 is as follows :- 

 

1. As Ashok was not keen to expand, Pravin proposed to buy him out and thus become 

the sole shareholder of All-Star Agencies. A price of R400,000 was agreed for Ashok’s 

100,000 shares and Pravin would pay the money directly to him from his personal 

savings. 

2. An investment of R1,200,000 would be made immediately to establish the necessary 

manufacturing unit to take on the big supply contract. Most of this investment would be 

funded through raising a L-T bank loan of R1,000,000. 

3. The manufacturing plant was to be depreciated evenly over 4 years (which was the 

duration of the contract). A full year’s depreciation was to be charged for 2014 and 

added to the existing amount of R225,000 for the fleet of delivery vehicles. 

4. Sales from the ongoing agency business were expected to drop to R3,000,000 for the 

year and commission earned on that would remain at 20%. 

5. The contract to supply mattresses would result in annual sales of 5,000 units at R600 

each. Detailed costings showed that direct production costs would be R380 per unit. 

6. Pravin disliked unnecessary spending on marketing so planned to reduce Selling & 

Distribution costs to 3% of total sales. 

7. The additional paperwork generated by such a big contract would push General & 

Admin costs up to R120,000 for 2014. 

8. Raw material stocks for the manufacturing process would need to be bought in bulk, so 

Stock holdings were expected to rise to R212,000 by 31st Dec 2014. 

9. The tax rate for 2014 would remain the same as last year. 

10. As payments for the contract had to be made from Brussels, debtors were expected to 

more than double to R1,002,740 by the end of 2014. 

11. Strict payment terms by the suppliers of the manufacturing raw materials meant that 

creditors were unlikely to increase. It was agreed to carry forward exactly the same 

figure as last year. 

12. The new debt position would mean that All-Star incurred an interest expense for the 

first time. This was expected to come to R162,000 for the year. Pravin also proposed to 

increase his dividend to 40% of earning after tax. 

13. The new trading model would enable Pravin to reduce cash on hand to R35,260 by the 

end of 2014. He hoped this plan would not require large amounts of expensive 

overdraft funding, but had organised a facility with All-Star’s bank just in case. You are 

to work out what overdraft funding would be required on the projected balance sheet. 
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You have been asked to prepare the following for presentation to Pravin and the bankers as soon as 

possible : - 
 

1) The Income Statement for the year ended 31st December 2013 and the Balance 

Sheet as at that date. 

2) The projected Income Statement and Balance sheet for 2014, based on the plan 

outlined above. 

3) Extract the cash flow statement for the year ended 31st December 2014. 

4) Calculate the ratios for both years 

5) As well as preparing the above numbers, you have been asked to offer any advice 

that you think may be relevant to the future health of All-Star Agencies. Pravin has 

specifically asked you to comment of the following areas :- 

a. Working Capital Management 

b. The profitability of the two different product lines (agency and manufacturing) 

c. Asset efficiency 

d. His father’s dislike of debt and the proposed capital structure 

e. Liquidity (particularly ability to make interest repayments) 

f. His idea of going for the big contract and the idea of possibly running totally 

separate accounts for the two different product lines 

g. The proposed price of buying Ashok’s 100,000 shares 
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All-Star Agencies      

 Income Statement       

  Y/E 31 Dec 2013    Y/E 31 Dec 2014  

 Sales       

 Cost of Sales         

 Gross Profit       

 Expenses       

 General & Admin       

 Selling Costs       

 Depreciation           

 Operating Profit       

 Interest Paid         

 Profit before Tax      

 Taxation         

 Earnings after Tax       

 Dividend       

 Retained Earnings         
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All-Star Agencies     

 Balance Sheet     

    

 Capital Employed   As at 31 Dec 2013    As at 31 Dec 2014  

 Ordinary Shares     

 Retained Earnings       

 Total Equity     
    

 L-T Debt     

      

    

 Employment of Capital     

 Fixed Assets     
    

 Current Assets     

 Stock       

 Debtors       

 Cash       

 Current Liabilities     

 Creditors       

 Bank Overdraft       

 Net Current Assets     

 Net Assets       
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All-Star Agencies    

 Cash Flow Statement    

  For Y/E 31 Dec 2014 

 Operating Profit    

 Add back Depreciation     

 Cash Inflow from Trading    
   

 Changes in W.C. Balances    

 Stock    

 Debtors    

 Creditors      
 Net Cash Flow from 
Operations    
   

 Investing Activity    

 Purchase of Fixed Assets     

   

 Financing Activity    

 Increase in L-T Debt    

 Interest Paid      

   

 Shareholder Activity    

 Dividends Paid     

   

 Taxation Paid     

 Cash Flow for the Year    

 Opening Cash Balance    

 Closing Cash Balance     
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All-Star Agencies     
    

 Profitability Ratios  2013  2014 

 Gross Profit       

 Operating Profit       

 Earnings after Tax       
    

 Admin Costs as % of Sales       

 Selling Costs as % of Sales       

 Depreciation as % of Sales       

    

 Efficiency or Productivity Ratios    

 Fixed Asset Turnover Rate       

 Net Asset Turnover Rate       

 Working Capital T/O Rate       
    

 Inventory Turnover Rate       

 Inventory Days       

 Debtor Days       

 Creditor Days       

    

 Liquidity Ratios     

 Current Test       

 Acid Test / Quick Ratio       

 Interest Cover       

    

 Financial Structure Ratios    

 Debt to Equity       

 Debt to Total Capital Empl       

 Interest Cover       

    

 Performance Ratios     

 RONA       

 ROE       
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14. All Star’s Ratio Analysis 
 
Profitability 

Gross profit 

The gross profit has increased year on year by 8.3%, which suggests that the business has 

been able to increase its margin. The leavers for increasing margin are generally the ability 

increase the selling price or to reduce the cost of production. Another alternative is to 

introduce new product ranges that have higher margins than existing products. This is in fact 

the case in All Star. The original agencies business had a gross margin of 20%, the new 

mattress business has a gross margin of 36.7 %. The weighted average of these two product 

ranges produces an overall gross margin of 28.3%. 

 

Operating profit 

The operating profit has increased year on year buy 9.8%. The bulk of this increase has come 

about as a result in the gains at the gross profit level (8.3%). However the additional 1.5% in 

margin gains must have come about as a result of a reduction in operating expenses. See the 

analysis of the expense for further insights on this issue. 

 

Earnings after tax 

The earnings after tax percentage has increased year on year by 4.6%. This means that the 

EAT % has more than doubled year on year which is an impressive improvement. However, 

the gains that were achieved at the operating profit level have not been carried through to the 

bottom line. The reason for this is the introduction of debt into the business, which has 

resulted in an interest expense, which the business did not have in the 2013 year. The EAT % 

has not been effected by any changes in tax as the tax percentage has remained the same 

year on year. 

 

Expenses as % of sales 

The overall expenses as a percentage of sales has reduced year on year by 1.5%. This 

accounts for the increase in margin gains between the gross profit % and the operating profit 

%. The reduction in the overall expenses as a % of sales has come about largely as a result 

in the reduction of the selling cost as % of sales (4.5% reduction). The depreciation % has 

increased as a result of the purchase of new fixed assets. 

 

Asset Efficiencies 

Fixed asset turnover 

The FA T/O is a measure of a businesses ability to generate sales with the use of its fixed 

assets. The ideal scenario is large sales with little or no fixed assets. If fixed assets increase 

relative to sales the FA T/O will decline. In the case of All Star this is the case. The FA T/O 

has declined as a result of the introduction of new assets. This should be a temporary decline 
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provided that the sales continue to increase year on year and there are no new assets 

purchased in the short term. We should see this ratio tending upward in the coming years. 

 

Working capital turnover 

The WC T/O is a measure of a businesses ability to generate sales with the use of its net 

current assets. The ideal scenario is large sales with little or no net current assets. If net 

current assets increase relative to sales the WC T/O will decline. In the case of All Star we 

see the ratio declining year on year which suggests that the efficiency of the net current 

assets is declining. To fully understand the reason for this decline one needs to unpack the 

individual components of this measure. The individual components that make up the net 

current assets are: creditors, debtors and stock. See the individual sections relating to these 

indicators for further analysis of this ratio. 

 

Net Asset turnover 

Net assets turnover is a function of both the fixed assets and the net current assets and it 

represents the sales as a function of the net asset value. This ratio is often referred to as the 

asset efficiency. In the case of All Star this ratio has declined year on year, which suggests 

that the asset efficiency has reduced. This decline has come about as a result of the declining 

FA T/O and the WC T/O. 

 

Inventory days and Inventory turn over 

Inventory days and Inventory turn over are inversely proportional and are a measure of the 

stock / inventory holding period. All Star’s inventory days have increased year on year from 9 

to 18 days which suggests that the business is holding stock for longer. This is going to have 

a negative effect on the cash flow. 

 

Debtor days 

Debtor days are a measure of how long it takes for the customers to pay for their credit 

purchases. In the case of All Star the debtor days has gone from 44 to 61, which suggests 

that customers are taking longer to pay. This will be detrimental to the cash flow. 

 

Creditor days 

Creditor days are a measure of how long it takes for the business to pay for its credit 

purchases from its suppliers. In the case of All Star the creditor days has gone from 26 to 19, 

which suggests that All Star is paying its suppliers sooner than it did last year. This will be 

detrimental to the cash flow. 

 

All of the activity ratios are working against All Star from a cash flow point of view, which is 

the reason for the decline in the WC T/O. Overall there appears to be a negative trend 

developing with regard to the cash flow management of All Star. This needs to be addressed. 
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Liquidity Ratios 

Current test 

The current test measures the short-term liquidity of the business, which is sometimes 

referred to as the solvency. It is a measure of the stock, debtors and cash divided by the 

creditors and overdraft. The ratio has improved from 2.6 to 4.5, which indicates that there 

should be no concern with regard to the S-T liquidity of the business. However, this increase 

in the ratio is a reflection of the declining cash flow management, which was indicted by the 

activity ratios. 

 

Quick test 

The quick test shows a similar trend to the current ratio. The only difference being that this 

ratio excludes the inventory effect. 

 

Interest cover 

This ratio is a measure of the operating profit in relation to the interest expense. The higher 

the ratio the higher the “safety” in respect of being able to pay the interest expense. This is a 

measure that a bank would look closely at in order to determine a businesses ability to pay 

the interest expense. A ratio of 3 would be an accepted minimum. There is no interest cover 

for All Star in 2013 at there is no debt. In 2014 the interest cover is 5.6, which would be 

acceptable, but it should be monitored, as management would not want to see it drop below 

this. 

 

Financial Structure 

Debt to Equity 

This is a measure of the amount of debt in a business in relation to the amount of equity. 

Generally this ratio refers to the long-term debt that forms part of the capital structuring of the 

business. In 2013 there is no debt and therefore no ratio. In 2014 the ratio is 90.9%. This 

could be misleading if one does not fully understand the ratio. 90% could be perceived as too 

much debt. The debt to total capital ratio may be a better measure. 

 

Debt to total capital 

This ratio measures the debt against the debt plus the equity. In 2013 there is no debt and 

therefore no ratio. In 2014 the ratio is 47.6%, which suggests that the funding is nearly half – 

half debt and equity.  

 

Interest cover 

This is the same ratio that was covered earlier, however it is often considered in the context of 

a businesses ability to take on more debt. A ratio that is too low, say below 3, would be an 

indication that a business may not be able to pay its interest if more debt is taken on. 
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I would suggest that All Star has reached its debt capacity. Up to 50% debt to total capital 

would be considered to be an aggressive funding structure and combined with the interest 

cover, it may be too risky to increase their debt at this stage. However, the fact that they have 

just increased their production capacity would suggest that they would not need more debt 

funding in the short term. 

 

Performance Ratios 

RONA or ROCE 

RONA is a function of profitability and asset efficiency. In the case of All Star the profitability 

improved dramatically while the asset efficiency declined. The bigger increase in profitability 

in comparison to the reduction in the net asset turn over resulted in the RONA increasing from 

23% to 42%. The growth has been driven by the introduction of the new mattress business at 

the higher margins. 

 

ROE 

ROE is a function of profitability, asset efficiency and leverage. The increase in debt has been 

a major contributor to the growth in ROE, along with the increase in profitability. The ROE has 

increased from 15% to 42%, which would be considered as an exceptional improvement. 

Investors may compare this return to the return that they would receive from cash in the bank. 

But it is important to consider that an investment of cash in the bank is at a much lower risk 

than an investment in All Star. 
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15. Home Industries (Pty) Ltd 
 
Your friend George runs a thriving home industry and has been awarded a tender to supply 

the government with large amounts of his product. He realises that he will need to source a 

significant amount of additional capital to enable him to extend production capacity and fund 

the increase in working capital. You have been approached and asked to finalise the recent 

year-end (31st December 2000) and help with the financial plan for the forthcoming year (to 

31st December 2001).  

 

The following information is available from the company records for the year ended 31st 

December 2000 : - 

 

1. Sales totalled R69 800. 60% of those were on credit while the rest were for cash 

2. Opening Stock was R3 820, but this had been reduced to R2 501 by yearend 

3. Total purchases made during the year amounted to R28 695 

4. Authorised share capital was R100 000, but the only issued shares were those of 

your friend, who held 6 000 at R1 each 

5. Retained profit carried forward from 1999 was R8 967 

6. Marketing costs for the year were 2½% of sales while Staff costs amounted to 8% of 

sales 

7. General & Admin costs totalled R2 407 for the year 

8. Net fixed assets at the end of 1999 were R36 800 and there had been no additional 

purchases during 2000. Depreciation charge for the year was R3 700 

9. A patent had been registered when the business began and brought onto the books 

at a value of R10 000. It was agreed to amortise it using the straight-line method 

over five years. Its book value at the end of 1999 was R8 000 

10. Your friend had a L-T loan of R10 000 from his mother that was still outstanding 

11. Customers buying on credit were taking an average of 27 days to settle their 

accounts 

12. Interest expense for the year was R1 667 

13. The prevailing corporate tax rate was 30% of earnings before tax 

14. Cash on hand on the evening of the 31st of December 2000 had been counted and 

equalled R1 146 

15. The company still owed R5 300 to suppliers for deliveries received but not yet paid 

for 

16. Your friend had deducted R3 500 from the company to do his Christmas shopping 

and asked that that be treated as his dividend for the year 

17. The cash book showed the company to be overdrawn, but the exact amount had not 

been reconciled 
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George is terrified of overtrading and knows that careful financial planning is essential to 

ensure that the tender does not cause huge cash flow problems. Your mutual friend Sidney 

has expressed interest at coming in as a financial partner, so the three of you sat down and 

projected the following for the year ended 31st December 2001 : - 

 

1. The tender would cause turnover to increase by 75%. 80% of which would now be 

on credit 

2. Due to the increased orders from suppliers, the cost of purchases would be cut and it 

was predicted that C of S could be kept down to 40% of sales 

3. In return for the discounts the suppliers would need to be paid sooner, which would 

have the effect of bringing the creditor days down to 29 

4. Marketing costs would be increased to 5% of turnover and Staff costs to 11% 

5. It was agreed to issue Sidney with 6 000 ordinary shares to make him an equal 

partner in the company. However, due to the track record and reputation already 

established by George, it was agreed that a 100% premium should be charged for 

the new issue (That is, the shares of R1 par value were bought for R2 each). 

6. An additional R42 000 was to be spent on fixed assets and the depreciation charge 

for the year was estimated at R7 280 

7. No change was to be made to the patent value or amortisation policy 

8. Stock levels were expected to increase and it was predicted that stock turn would be 

8 x by the end of 2001 

9. Government were likely to take longer to pay, so debtors were to be budgeted at 

R10 709 

10. George’s mother had offered to loan an additional R20 000 if needed. It was agreed 

that it would be required so the L-T loan was increased to R30 000. Interest for the 

forthcoming year was thus budgeted to increase to R3 690 

11. Administration and general costs for the year were expected to be R4 130 

12. Corporate tax was not due to change and the shareholders came to an agreement 

that one third of all earning after tax would be paid out by way of a dividend. 

 

It was hoped that by increasing equity and taking on more debt Home Industries would not 

have to rely on overdraft funding. You are required to prepare final accounts for the year 

ended 31st December 2000 and a full set of pro-former financial statement for the year ended 

31st December 2001. Show the net cash position at the net of 2001and report back to 

George and Sidney on the company’s prospects. Pay particular attention to performance, 

capital structure and liquidity.  
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Home Industries (Pty) Ltd      

 Income Statement       

 
 Y/E 31 Dec 

2000    Y/E 31 Dec 2001  

 Sales       

 Cost of Sales         

 Gross Profit       

 Expenses       

 Marketing Costs       

 General & Admin       

 Staff Costs       

 Patent Amortisation       

 Depreciation           

 Operating Profit       

 Interest Paid         

 Profit Before Tax       

 Taxation         

 Earnings after Tax       

 Dividend       

 Retained Earnings         
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Home Industries (Pty) Ltd    

 Balance Sheet     

    

 Capital Employed   As at 31 Dec 2000    As at 31 Dec 2001  

 Ordinary Shares     

 Share Premium     

 Retained Earnings       

 Total Equity     
    

 L-T Loan     

      

    

 Employment of Capital     

 Fixed Assets     

 Patent     
    

 Current Assets     

 Stock       

 Debtors       

 Cash       

 Current Liabilities     

 Creditors       

 Bank Overdraft       

 Net Current Assets     

 Net Assets       
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Home Industries (Pty) Ltd     

    

 Profitability Ratios  2000  2001 
 Gross Profit %      
 Operating Profit %      
 Earnings after Tax %      
    
 Marketing Costs as % of Sales       
 Admin Costs as a % of Sales       
 Staff Costs as a % of Sales       
 Amortisation as a % of Sales       
 Depreciation as % of Sales       
    
 Efficiency or Productivity Ratios     
 Fixed Asset Turnover Rate       
 Net Asset Turnover Rate       
 Working Capital T/O Rate       
    
 Inventory Turnover Rate       
 Inventory Days       
 Debtor Days       
 Creditor Days       
    
 Liquidity Ratios     
 Current Test       
 Acid Test / Quick Ratio       
 Interest Cover       
    
 Financial Structure Ratios     
 Debt to Equity       
 Debt to Total Capital Empl       
 Interest Cover       
    
 Performance Ratios     
 RONA       
 ROE       
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Home Industries (Pty) Ltd   

 Cash Flow Statement    

 
 For Y/E 31 Dec 

2001  

 Operating Profit    

 Add back Depreciation     

 Cash Inflow from Trading    
   

 Changes in W.C. Balances    

 Stock    

 Debtors    

 Creditors      

 Net Cash Flow from Operations    
   

 Investing Activity    

 Purchase of Fixed Assets     

   

 Financing Activity    

 Increase in L-T Loan    

 Interest Paid     

   

 Shareholder Activity    

 New Share Issue    

 Dividends Paid      

   

 Taxation Paid     
 Net cash flow   
 Opening Cash Balance    
 Closing Cash Balance     
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16. Financial Analysis 
 

Shareholder Information     

     

Ratio Formula    

Earnings per Share E.A.T.  (Cents per Share) 

 No. of Shares    

     

Earnings Yield E.P.S x 100  

 Mkt Price of Share    

     

P : E Ratio Share Price : Latest E.P.S.Figure 

     

     

N.B.V. per Share Total S/H Equity  (Cents per Share) 

 No. of Shares    

     

Market-to-Book Ratio Market Capitalisation : Total S/H Equity         

     

     

Dividends per Share Dividends Paid  (Cents per Share) 

 No. of Shares    

     

Dividend Yield Div per Share x 100  

 Mkt Price of Share    

     

Dividend Cover E.A.T.    

 Dividends Paid    
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Efficiency or Asset Productivity Ratios 
    

Ratio Formula   

Fixed Asset Turnover Rate Sales   

(Fixed Assets at N.B.V.) Fixed Assets   

    

Net Asset Turnover Rate Sales   

 Net Assets   

    

Working Capital Turnover Rate Sales   

 Net Current Assets 

    

Inventory Turnover Rate C of S   

 Stock   

    

Inventory Days Stock x 365 

 C of S   

    

Debtor Days Debtors x 365 

 Credit Sales   

    

Creditor Days Creditors x 365 

 C of S   
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Liquidity Ratios     

     

Ratio Formula    

Current Ratio Current Assets : Current Liabilities 

     

Acid Test or 'Quick Ratio' 'Quick Assets' : Current Liabilities 
(Quick Assets = Current Assets less Stock)     

     

Interest Cover Operating Profit    

 Interest Paid    

     

Financial Structure     

     

Ratio Formula    

Debt to Equity Debt x 100  

 Equity    

     

Debt to Total Capital Employed Debt x 100  

 Total Cap Empl    

     

Interest Cover Operating Profit    

 Interest Paid    

     

Performance Ratios     

     

Ratio Formula    

Return on Net Assets (R.O.N.A.) Operating Profit x 100  

 Net Assets    

     

Return on Equity (R.O.E.) E.A.T. x 100  

 Total Equity    
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17. Du Pont Analysis 
Some time ago DuPont Chemicals came up with a model that used ratios to illustrate how the 

various parts of a business interlinked to drive the ultimate financial ratio – Return on Equity 

(ROE). The model is very useful for the following reasons : - 

 

• It is simple and easy to understand 

• The ‘branches’ capture all aspects of a business (with the exception of cash flow) 

• It is applicable and relevant to any type of business in any market 

• It cleverly shows that nothing in business exists in isolation – Everything is interlinked 

and often wins in one area are a trade-off with losses in another 

• It allows for clear and meaningful comparison between companies and even between 

industries 

 

The model is particularly useful in gauging the movement within a company from one period 

to the next. While it is not always easy to determine whether a single ratio is good or bad 

(without extensive company background and industry knowledge) it is easy to see what areas 

have improved and which have got worse from one period to the next. Thus the principle of 

the model is to illustrate movement in each of the component parts of the DuPont model. One 

can get a quick and clear visual breakdown of all the inputs that have driven ROE up or down. 

The direction of the arrow is important….any improvement (or movement that will contribute 

positively to ROE) should be represented by an upward arrow and anything that is dragging 

ROE down should be represented by a downward arrow. There are a couple of areas here 

that seem to catch a lot of students out : - 

 

• Gearing – If the Debt : Equity ratio goes up this will have a positive impact on ROE. 

Remember that the more debt you use (cheaper funding) the greater the return to 

shareholders. This is not to say that the increased levels of debt are necessarily a 

good thing, as that involves an analysis of overall debt levels, debt capacity, industry 

prospects, macroeconomic factors etc… However, in the mathematical DuPont model, 

more debt will help ROE and is represented by an upward arrow. Clearly then, a 

reduction in debt (gearing down) will result in a downward arrow and have a negative 

effect on ROE. 

• Working Capital – Stock and debtors are current assets and represent our money tied 

up. Thus any reduction in efficiency of their use will drag down ROE. Therefore if our 

debtors take longer to settle or our stock sits for longer in the warehouse, the arrows 

will go down as the days go up! As creditors are a current liability and source of S-T 

funding, the reverse is true for this category of working capital.  
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When using the model to illustrate movement in the key ratios, it is sensible to start from the 

bottom and work up. When all the inputs to the next level move in the same direction, then 

you do not need to calculate that ratio Eg. If both FA and WC turnover show improved 

efficiency, then obviously overall (net) asset efficiency will be driven up. If in the same 

example profitability is also up, then RONA must also improve and thus need not be 

calculated. There are ways of calculating the actual numbers from the input ratios, but it is 

messy and beyond the scope of this course. This model is designed merely trying to give one 

an overview of what has helped, what has got worse, and how they all interlink. This provides 

one with an excellent management tool that will quickly help you focus your attention in the 

right area and prevent you from making shortsighted decisions that may help one area but 

hurt another. 

 

There are five key areas in analysing a business and DuPont captures all except cash flow – 

 

• Profitability – Here we are trying to capture the overall effect of movement in our 

profit margins. Earnings after tax (EAT) is used to show whether we have gained or 

lost in this area. Several books prefer the operating profit (EBIT) subtotal and in truth 

both are a bit of a simplification of the correct multiplier calculation; 

 

• Fixed Asset Efficiency – The fixed asset turnover rate shows whether we are 

sweating the assets or not. Simplified examples often show extreme movement here 

as relatively large assets are bought or sold off. While this movement is often diluted in 

large corporates (due to the averaging out of many asset purchases and disposals) the 

dramatic effect such expenditure has on efficiency is an important learning point and 

worth exaggerating. As FA are expressed at NBV, the depreciation rate also influences 

movement in this efficiency ratio; 

 

• Working Capital Turnover – Here we look at the efficiency of the net current assets 

(a.k.a. working capital) separately as these are the ST assets and liabilities that are 

dealt with on a daily basis and the part of the balance sheet most influenced by 

management. As mentioned above, movement in creditors has the exact opposite 

effect on efficiency to a similar movement in debtors or stock 

 
• Cash – This is a simplified to some degree as you are asked to ignore the influence of 

cash and overdraft when using the DuPont model. This is done because cash is so 
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important that a quick snapshot of where we are now is not nearly sufficient for its 

management. One should do a detailed analysis of the cash position. 

 

• Financial / Capital Structure – The influence of gearing on the DuPont model is 

covered above.  

 

 

See the slides for the Du Pont model. 
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18. Marcello’s Famous Ice Cream (Pty) Ltd 
 
To the great horror of Renee Hilton-Holtzhauzen, an ice cream fanatic, who also happened to 
manage the local branch of the Small Business Peoples Bank, she discovered that the annual 
financial statements form Marcello's Ice Cream (Pty) Ltd had not arrived as promised by 
Marcello some months ago. 
 
She immediately paid a visit to the firm, assisted in a mild stock reduction, and then sat down 
at Marcello's desk. Reluctantly he handed her his "latest" balance sheet and income 
statement, which were now some months old. 
 
Whipping out her portable PC, Renee punched in the numbers. When the ratio analysis was 
run on Marcello's accounts, she noticed that some of the company's ratios were sowing 
downward trends, dipping below the averages for the industry. 
 
In addition the loan agreement the bank had with Marcello's specified that the firm had to 
keep its liquidity at an acceptable level, namely that the current ratio should be maintained 
above a figure of 2.3. Her printout showed that it had dropped to 1.8. No wonder Marcello had 
been so diffident about producing the figures! He well knew that the failure to maintain his 
current ratio at the agreed upon level could result in the bank calling up his loan immediately. 
Bankruptcy would then be staring him in the face. 
 
Renee had no intention of foreclosing on the loan and thus losing the source of her favourite 
after dinner treat, but she did intend to use the loan agreement provision to prompt Marcello 
into taking some decisive action to improve the financial position of his company. 
 
Ice cream manufacture is very much a seasonal business. The firm's working capital needs 
had been financed primarily by the loan from the bank, and the current agreement permitted 
the company to borrow up to R240 000. 
 
The entry of a new competitor, coupled with higher costs due to improvements in the worker's 
pay packages, had led to the decline in profit margin, said Marcello. However, sales had 
increased during both of these years due to the firm's aggressive marketing programme. 
 
After enjoying an ice cream with her tea, Renee left, having been promised by Marcello that 
he would immediately embark on a course of remedial action. 
 
Marcello rapidly concluded that the anticipated 5% growth in sales to R2.5m for 2006 could 
not be achieved without an increase in the bank loan from R240 000 to R340 000, since 
payment of R100 000 for the construction of an addition to the firm's warehouse would have 
to be made early in 2006. Even though he had been a good customer of the bank, Marcello 
began to question whether the bank would continue the present line of credit, let alone 
increase the loan outstanding. He was especially troubled by the fact that the Reserve Bank 
had recently tightened bank credit, forcing commercial banks to ration credit, even to their 
best customers. 
 
Marcello's balance sheets, income statements and a set of financial ratios for the years 2003 
through 2005 are attached, together with the industry average ratios, which were constant 
over the three year period. 
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QUESTIONS: 
 

1. Analyse and comment on the financial health of the firm. 
 
2. Produce for Marcello a set of forecast financial statements, assuming no changes in 

gross margins, the proportions of administration and selling expenses relative to 
sales, the tax rate or in the firm's dividend policy. Assume that depreciation will be 
R38 000, the new warehouse is built, cash is R11 000, L-T loan is R27,000 and 
accruals R68 000 at the end of 2006. 

 
 
3. He tells you that creditors will be paid in 54 days. Due to the looming tight credit 

conditions, debtors will probably extend their payment terms by 10 days to 60 days. 
Stock turn is to remain unchanged at the 2005 level. He tells you he believes that the 
final level of bank overdraft at the end of 2006 will be about R340 000. 
 
Using the attached pro-forma balance sheet and income statement, show that this is 
in fact the case, given his assumptions. (Work to the nearest thousand Rand and 
show all of your workings). 

 
 

4. Calculate Marcello's sustainable growth rate for 2004, 2005 and 2006. 
 
5. On the basis of your financial analysis and the sustainable growth rate you 

calculated, advise Marcello as to whether, on presentation of this plan, you believe 
the bank will increase the loan by R100 000 giving reasons for our viewpoint. What 
should Marcello do? 
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Marcello's Ice Cream (Pty) Ltd     

 Income Statement       

  
 Y/E 31 Dec 2003   Y/E 31 Dec 2004   Y/E 31 Dec 2005   Y/E 31 Dec 2006  

 Sales    2,210,000   2,295,000   2,380,000   

 Cost of Sales    1,768,000   1,859,000   1,952,000   

 Gross Profit    442,000   436,000   428,000    

 Expenses       

 General & Admin    211,000   236,000   264,000    

 Miscellaneous    34,000   48,400   55,000    

 Depreciation     27,000   36,000   43,000   38,000  

 Profit Before Tax    170,000   115,600   66,000   

 Taxation (50%)    85,000   57,800   33,000   

 Earnings after Tax    85,000   57,800   33,000    

 Dividend    -   -   -   -  

 Retained Earnings    85,000   57,800   33,000   
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Marcello's Ice Cream (Pty) Ltd     

 Balance Sheet      

     

 Capital Employed   As at 31 Dec 2003   As at 31 Dec 2004   As at 31 Dec 2005   As at 31 Dec 2006  

 Ordinary Shares   306,000   306,000   306,000  306,000 

 Retained Earnings   234,600   292,400   325,400    

 Total Equity   540,600   598,400   631,400   
     

 L-T Loan   37,400   34,000   31,600  27,000 

  578,000   632,400   663,000    

     

 Employment of Capital      

 Fixed Assets   190,400   214,200   192,100   
     

 Current Assets   510,000   679,800   1,028,500   

 Stock   255,000   425,000   688,500    

 Debtors   204,000   231,000   323,000    

 Cash   51,000   23,800   17,000   11,000 

 Current Liabilities   122,400   261,800   557,600   

 Creditors   81,600   129,200   255,000    

 Accruals   40,800   47,600   64,600   68,000 

 Bank Overdraft   -   85,000   238,000    

 Net Current Assets   387,600   418,000   470,900   

 Net Assets   578,000   632,200   663,000    
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Marcello's Ice Cream (Pty) 

Ltd       

      

 Profitability Ratios  2003 2004 2005 2006 Industry 
 Gross Profit %  20.0% 19.0% 18.0%  18% 20.0% 

 Operating Profit %  7.7% 5.4% 3.8%  3.8 7.5% 
 Earnings after Tax %  3.8% 2.5% 1.4%  1.4 3.5% 

      
 Miscellaneous as % of Sales  1.5% 2.1% 2.3%     

 General & Admin Costs as a % of Sales  9.5% 9.9% 11.1%     
 Depreciation as % of Sales  1.2% 1.6% 1.8%     

      
 Efficiency or Productivity Ratios       

 Fixed Asset Turnover Rate  11.6 10.7 12.4   13.0 
 Net Asset Turnover Rate  3.8 3.6 3.6     

 Working Capital T/O Rate  5.7 5.5 5.1     
      

 Inventory Turnover Rate  6.9 4.4 2.8  2.8 7.0 
 Inventory Days  52.6 83.4 128.7  128.7   

 Debtor Days  33.7 36.7 49.5  60 32.0 
 Creditor Days  16.8 25.4 47.7  54   

      
 Liquidity Ratios       

 Current Test  4.2 2.6 1.8   2.7 
 Acid Test / Quick Ratio  2.1 1.0 0.6   1.0 

 Interest Cover  #DIV/0! 14.6 3.8     
      

 Financial Structure Ratios       
 Debt to Equity  6.9% 5.7% 5.0%   50.0% 

 Debt to Total Capital Empl  6.5% 5.4% 4.8%     
 Interest Cover  #DIV/0! 14.6 3.8     

      
 Performance Ratios       

 RONA  29.4% 19.6% 13.5%   30.0% 
 ROE  15.7% 9.7% 5.2%   18.0% 
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19. NPV Exercise 
 

RubberLay want to build a new line to produce their standard products. You have been 
provided with the following information: 
 
Capital expense for the new line = R 2,500,000 
Production capacity per month = 500,000 m2 
 
Ave selling price per m2 = R15 (this price is expected to increase at 12% per year) 
Ave cost of manufacture per m2 = R12 (this cost is expected to increase at 8% per year) 
 
The variable cost of gas per m2 is R 0.9 and is expected to increase at 8% per year 
The variable cost of transport per m2 is R 1.1 and is expected to increase at 8% per year 
 
The following fixed expenses will be incurred on a monthly basis in order to run and oversee 
the plant and are expected to grow at 8% per annum: 
 
Management = R20,000 
Wages = R14,000 
Rent = R20,000 
Admin = R20,000 
 
It is expected that in the first year of production RubberLay will be able to sell at least 1 million 
m2 of product off this production line. 
 
Assuming that the discount rate per annum is 15% and the business believes that is can grow 
it sales at 8 % per annum, should RubberLay proceed with this project? Calculate this over a 
5 year period. 
 
What will be the IRR of this project over a 5 year period? 
 
What is the minimum sales growth rate for this project to go ahead? 
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NPV Exercise (GRID)       
       
New RubberLay line       
       
Capital investment  2,500,000      
Capacity per month 500,000      
Sales price growth 12%      
Cost price growth 8%      
Variable exp growth 8%      
       
Time line Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 
Ave sales price  15.00      
Ave cost price  12.00      
Ave margin  3.00      
       
Variable expenses per m2       
Gas   0.9     
Transport  1.1     
       
Fixed expense per month        
Management  20,000     
Wages  14,000     
Rent  20,000     
Admin  20,000     
       
       
Growth rate   8% 8% 8% 8% 
Sales projection (m2)  1,000,000 1,080,000 1,166,400 1,259,712 1,360,489 
Sales projection (R)  15,000,000     
Cost of sales  12,000,000     
Gross profit  3,000,000     
Variable expenses        
Gas  900,000     
Transport  1,100,000     
Fixed expenses       
Management  240,000     
Wages   168,000     
Rent  240,000     
Admin  240,000     
Net profit  112,000     
Tax (29%)  32,480     
Net profit after tax  79,520     
       
Discount rate  15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 
Discount factor 1 0.870 0.756 0.658 0.572 0.497 

Current value 
-

2,500,000      

 
-

2,500,000      
NPV       
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20. Financial Information Assignment 
 

Wits Business School  
Faculty of Commerce, Law & Management    
University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg 
 
Assignment: Financial Information   
(This assignment will count for 40% of the module’s marks.) 
Due date:      
 
20.1 Happy Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd 

 

The accountant of Happy Wholesalers had recently resigned and left before they had time to 

replace her. While the bookkeeper managed to continue with all the necessary record 

keeping, it was now year end and Tom Smith (owner and managing director) realised he had 

to do something fast! Knowing that you had recently completed an excellent accounting and 

finance course at WBS he arranged to meet with you and asked if you would help. 

 

The bookkeeper had compiled the following operating summary for the year ended 31st 
December 2011 : - 
 

Sales      R64 500 

Selling Expenses   3% of Sales 

Depreciation    R1 265 

Cost of Sales    80% of Sales 

General & Admin Expenses  1 700 

 

In addition you were told that no interest had been paid during the year as you had gone into 

overdraft for the first time just before the Balance Sheet date. Half of all Earnings after Tax 

were to be paid out as a dividend and the prevailing corporate tax rate was 35%.  

 

The following balances were also extracted from the accounts as at the close of 
trading on 31st December 2011: - 
 

Debtors     R12 370 

Ordinary Share Capital   8 000 

Cash on Hand    R1 330 

Bank Overdraft    R2 467 

Stock     R6 000 

Creditors    R6 503 
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At the beginning of 2011 the balance on the retained income account was R15 100 and Net 

Book Value of Fixed Assets stood at R16 235. There had been not purchase of additional 

Fixed Assets during the year. 

 

Tom and his management team had identified new markets and predicted exciting growth for 

2012. However, their suppliers were tightening up on their settlement terms and debtors were 

taking longer and longer to pay. Thus they suspected they would need more permanent 

funding than the overdraft and had negotiated a L-T loan of up to R10 000. Estimates for the 
year ahead were: - 
 

Sales      Up by 40% 

General & admin Expenses  R2 176 

Interest Paid    R1 110 

Cost of Sales    80% of Sales 

Selling Expenses   3% of Sales 

Depreciation    R1 265 

 

The corporate taxation rate had remained the same and in an effort to reduce required 

borrowings, Smith had agreed to take no dividend in 2012.  

 

They predicted the following for Balance Sheet accounts at 31st December 2012 :- 
 

No additional share capital was to be raised 

Cash requirements would grow to R3 427 by year end 

Creditors were expected to come down toR 4 750 

Stock levels would need to increase to R8 400 to support the increased trade volumes 

No Fixed Assets would be bought or sold during the year 

Debtors would increase in direct proportion to Sales 

The overdraft facility was to be cancelled (all necessary funding to be obtained from the L-T 

Loan) 

The required borrowings would be determined by the balancing figure in the projected Balance 

Sheet 
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Tom Smith wished to hire you as a consultant and asked you to prepare the following for him, 

while he continued his search for a new accountant – 

 

a) An Income Statement for the year ended 31st December 2011 

b) The Balance Sheet as at 31st December 2011 

c) A full set of pro-forma financial statements (Income Statement, Balance Sheet & 

Cash Flow Statement) for the year ahead. Grid provided for Cash Flow Statement 
d) Calculate all the ratios in the attached grid. 

e) Comment on the ratios and the performance of the business. Tell the story of the 

business as best that you can determine from the numbers. This commentary should 

not be longer than 2 pages. 
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Happy Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd     

 Income Statement       

 
 Y/E 31 Dec 2011  

 
 Y/E 31 Dec 2012  

 Sales       

 Cost of Sales         

 Gross Profit       

 Expenses       

 General & Admin       

 Selling Costs       

 Depreciation           

 Operating Profit       

 Interest Paid         

 Profit Before tax      

 Taxation         

 Earnings after Tax       

 Dividend       

 Retained Earnings         
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Happy Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd    

 Balance Sheet     

    

 Capital Employed   As at 31 Dec 2011    As at 31 Dec 2012  

 Ordinary Shares     

 Retained Earnings       

 Total Equity     

    

 L-T Loan     

      

    

 Employment of Capital     

 Fixed Assets     

    

 Current Assets     

 Stock       

 Debtors       

 Cash       

 Current Liabilities     

 Creditors       

 Bank Overdraft       

 Net Current Assets     

 Net Assets       
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Happy Wholesalers     
    

 Profitability Ratios  2011  2012 

 Gross Profit %       

 Operating Profit %       

 Earnings after Tax %       
    

 Admin Costs as % of Sales       

 Selling Costs as % of Sales       

 Depreciation as % of Sales       
    
 Efficiency or Productivity Ratios    

 Fixed Asset Turnover Rate       

 Net Asset Turnover Rate       

 Working Capital T/O Rate       
    

 Inventory Turnover Rate       

 Inventory Days       

 Debtor Days       

 Creditor Days       
    
 Liquidity Ratios     

 Current Test       

 Acid Test / Quick Ratio       

 Interest Cover       
    
 Financial Structure Ratios     

 Debt to Equity       

 Debt to Total Capital Empl       

 Interest Cover       
    

 Performance Ratios     
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 RONA       

 ROE       
    

Happy Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd   

 Cash Flow Statement    

 
 For Y/E 31 Dec 

2012  

 Operating Profit    

 Add back Depreciation     

 Cash Inflow from Trading    
   

 Changes in W.C. Balances    

 Stock    

 Debtors    

 Creditors      

 Net Cash Flow from Operations    
   

 Financing Activity    

 Increase in L-T Loan    

 Interest Paid     

   

 Shareholder Activity    

 Dividends Paid     

   

 Taxation Paid     

   

 Opening Cash Balance    

 Closing Cash Balance     
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21. Southwestern Conquistador Beer1 
 
Introduction  
Larry Gomez was just beginning to realize the problem was more complex than he thought. 
The problem, of course, was giving direction to Lawson and Associates regarding which 
research projects should be completed by February 20, 1999, to determine the market 
potential of a Conquistador beer distributorship (or “wholesaler’) for Southwestern Oregon. 
With data from this research, Larry would be able to estimate the feasibility of such an 
operation before the March 5 application deadline. Larry knew his decision of whether or not 
to apply for the distributorship was the most important career choice he had ever faced.  
 
Larry Gomez 
Larry was just completing his M.B.A. From his standpoint, the Conquistador announcement of 
expansion into Oregon could hardly have been better timed. He had long ago decided the 
best opportunities and rewards were in smaller, self-owned businesses.  
 
Because of a family tragedy some three years ago, Larry found himself in a position to 
consider small business opportunities such as the Conquistador distributorship. 
Approximately $600,000 was held in trust for Larry, to be disbursed when he reached age 30. 
Until then, Larry and his young family lived on an annual trust income of about $44,000. It was 
because of this income that Larry decided to leave his sales engineering job and return to 
graduate school for his M.B.A.  
 
The decision to complete a graduate program and operate his own business had been easy 
to make. While he could have retired and lived off investment income, Larry knew such a life 
would not be to his liking. Working with people and the challenge of making it on his own, 
Larry thought, were preferable to enduring an early retirement.  
 
Larry would be 30 in July; about the time money would actually be needed to start the 
business. In the meantime, he had access to about $15000 for feasibility research. While 
there certainly were other ways to spend the money, Larry and his wife agreed the 
opportunity to acquire the distributorship could not be overlooked. 
 
Conquistador, Inc.  
Conquistador had entered the U.S. beer market with distribution originally limited to New 
Mexico, Texas, California, and Arizona. The beer was still produced in Mexico, and retained 
its original and distinctive taste and packaging. These features plus an appealing image had 
generated a wide and enthusiastic following among some Hispanic market segments and 
college students. This success had prompted the company to expand their distribution as 
rapidly as possible into the states adjoining the original markets.  
 
Larry was aware of Conquistador's popularity with consumers. From both personal 
experience and published articles, Conquistador's consumers were characterized as almost 
fanatically brand loyal despite the beer's premium price. As an example, ticket counter 
employees at the Los Angeles airport regularly reported seeing out-of-state passengers 
carrying one or more cases of Conquistador on board for home consumption in non-
Conquistador states. Local acceptance, Larry thought, would be no less enthusiastic.  
 
Because of this high consumer acceptance, the Conquistador Company spent less on 
advertising than did competitors. Consumer demand seemed to pull the product through the 
distribution channel.  
 

                                                
1 Updated from “Southwestern Conquistador Beer” in Aaker, Kumar,and Day 1995), Marketing 
Research (5th Edition). New York: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 103-112.   This case was originally written 
by Professor James E. Nelson of Montana State University. Professor John Lynch of Duke University 
updated the case and converted it to allow report purchase over the technology platform at the Fuqua 
School of Business. 
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Lawson Research Proposal  
Because of the press of studies, Larry contacted Lawson and Associates in January for 
assistance. The firm, a Portland based general research supplier, had conducted other 
feasibility studies in the Pacific Northwest. 
 
In January Larry met John Rome, Senior Researcher, and extensively discussed the 
Conquistador opportunity and appropriate research. Rome promised a formal research 
proposal (Exhibit 1-2) for the project that Larry now held in his hand. It certainly was 
extensive, Larry thought, and reflected the professionalism he expected. Now came the hard 
part, choosing the more relevant research from the proposal, because he certainly couldn't 
afford to pay for it all. Rome had suggested a meeting for Friday which gave Larry only three 
more days to decide. 
 
Larry was at first overwhelmed. All of the research would certainly be useful. He was sure he 
needed estimates of sales and costs in a form allowing managerial analysis, but what data 
and in what form? Knowledge of competing operations' experience, retailer support, and 
consumer acceptance also seemed crucial for feasibility analysis. What if consumers were 
excited about Conquistador but retailers were indifferent, or the other way around? Finally, 
several of the studies would provide information also useful in later months of operation in the 
areas of promotion and pricing, for example. The problem now appeared more difficult than 
before. 
 
It would have been nice, Larry thought, if he only had some time to perform part of the 
suggested research himself. There was just too much in the way of class assignments and 
other matters to allow him that luxury. Besides, using Lawson and Associates would give him 
research results from an unbiased source. Anyway, there would be enough for him to do once 
he received the results.  
 
Investment and Operating Data  
Larry was not completely in the dark regarding investment and operating data for the 
distributorship. In the previous two weeks he had visited two beer wholesalers in his 
hometown, who handled Olympia and Hamms beer, to get a feel for their operation and 
market experience. It would have been nice to interview a Conquistador wholesaler, but 
Conquistador management had strictly informed all of their distributors to provide no 
information to prospective applicants.  
 
While no specific financial data were discussed, general information had been provided in a 
near cordial fashion because of the noncompetitive nature of Larry's plans. Based on his 
conversations, Larry had made the following estimates: 
  
Inventory        $480,000  
Equipment  

Delivery trucks     $304,000  
Forklifts       $40,000  
Recycling and other equipment    $40,000  
Office equipment      $16,000  

Total equipment       $  400,000  
Warehouse        $  640,000  
Land         $    80,000  
Total investment       $1,600,000 
  
A local banker had reviewed Larry's financial capabilities and had seen no problem in 
extending a line of credit on the order of $700,000. Other family sources also might loan as 
much as $400,000 to the business.  
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As a rough estimate of fixed expenses, Larry planned to have four route salespersons, a 
secretary, and a general warehouseperson. Salaries for these people and himself would be 
about $450,000 annually plus some form of incentive compensation he had yet to determine. 
Other fixed or semifixed expenses were estimated at  
 
Equipment depreciation    $80,000 
Warehouse depreciation   $32,000 
Utilities and telephone    $32,000  
Insurance     $24,000 
Personal property taxes   $20,000 
Maintenance and janitorial  $11,200 
Miscellaneous    $  4,800 
 
Total     $204,000 
 
According to the two wholesalers, beer in bottles and cans outsold keg beer by a three-to-one 
margin. Keg beer prices at the wholesale level were about 45 percent of prices for beer in 
bottles and cans. 
 
Meeting 
The entire matter deserved much thought. Maybe it was a golden opportunity, maybe not. 
The only thing certain was that research was needed. Lawson and Associates was ready, and 
Larry needed time to think. Today is Tuesday, Larry thought; only three days until he and 
John Rome get together for direction. 
 
 
 
 
 
Your assignment 
You should read over the case as an individual. Then get together with your group to decide 
which reports to purchase. You will use an online order form that allows you to decide which 
reports from the available set {A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, and I; see Exhibits} you want to 
purchase.  
 
You want to buy the “right” reports that allow you to make the right decision, but also you want 
to avoid spending money on reports that are “nice to know” rather than “need to know.” Just 
because you have a research budget of $15 K doesn’t mean you have to spend it all.  
 
After you have purchased research reports, use the results from the reports to make a 
recommendation about the course of action Mr. Gomez should take.  Be prepared to defend 
your decision. Each group should prepare a 2-3 slide solution. The solution should specify: a) 
how you decided what reports were needed, and c) what calculations are required to convert 
the information in the reports to a course of action, and c) your recommendation about 
whether to buy the Conquistador distributorship based on those calculations. I’ll cold-call a 
group to kick off discussion.  
 
P.S. It is not okay to search online to get key numbers rather than paying for a report to get 
that number.   The objective of this case is to have you think through carefully what 
information is needed. The learning would be compromised if you could recover easily from a 
failure to purchase a key report by finding the missing number on the Internet. 
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EXHIBIT 1-2 
 
  

1.1 Lawson and Associates Research Proposal 
 

January 15, 1999 
 
Mr. Larry Gomez  
1198 West Lamar  
Portland, Oregon  
 
Dear Larry,  
 
It was a pleasure meeting you last week and discussing your business and research interests in Conquistador wholesaling. From further 
thought and discussion with my colleagues, the Conquistador opportunity appears even more attractive than when we met. 
Appearances can be deceiving, as you know, and I fully agree that some formal research is needed before you make an application. 
Research that we recommend would proceed in two distinct stages and is described below: 

 
1.1.1 Stage One: Research Based on Secondary Data 

 
Study A: National and Oregon per capita Beer Consumption for 1996, 1997, and 1998  
 

Description: Per capita annual consumption (in gallons) of beer for the total population and population age 21 and over is 
provided.  

 
Source:  Various publications 
 
Cost:  $600 

 
Study B: Population Estimates for 1998 to 2003 for Five Oregon Counties in Market Area  
 

Description:  Annual estimates of total population and population age 21 and over is provided for the period 1998 to 2003.  
 

Source:  U.S. Bureau of Census and Sales Management Annual Survey of Buying Power 
 
Cost:  $900 
 

 
Study C: Conquistador Market Share Estimates for 1998-2003  
 

Description:  Conquistador market share based on total gallons consumed in the five-county market area is estimated for 
each year in the period 1998 to 2003. These data will be projected from Conquistador's experience in 
California, Texas, New Mexico, and Arizona.  

 
Source:  Various publications 
 
Cost:  $1200 
 

 
Study D: Estimated Liquor and Beer Licenses for the Market Area 1999-2003  
 

Description:  Projection of the number of on-premise sale operations and off-premise sale operations is provided. 
 
Source:  Oregon Department of Revenue, Liquor Division 
 
Cost:  $600 
  

 
Study E: Beer Taxes Paid by Oregon Wholesalers for 1997 and 1998 in the Market Area  
 

Description:  Beer taxes paid by each of the five currently operating competing beer wholesalers is provided. This can be 
converted to gallons sold by applying the state gallonage tax rate of $0.21 / gallon.  

 
Source:  Oregon Department of Revenue, Liquor Division 
 
Cost:  $2400 

  
 

(continued)  
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(continued)  
 
 
Study F: Financial Statement Summary of Wine, Liquor, and Beer Wholesalers for 1998  
 

Description:  Composite balance sheets, income statements, and relevant measures of performance provided for 152 similar 
wholesaling operations are provided.  

 
Source:  Robert Morris Associates annual statement studies 
 
Cost:  $100 

 
1.1.2 Stage Two: Research Based on Primary Data 

 
Study G: Consumer Study  
 

Description:  Study G involves focus-group interviews and a questionnaire to determine consumer past experience, acceptance, 

and intention to buy Conquistador beer. Three interviews would be conducted in three counties in the market area. 

From these data, a mail questionnaire would be developed and sent to 1000 adult residents in the market area 

utilizing direct questions and a semantic differential scale to measure attitudes towards Conquistador beer, 

competing beers, and an ideal beer.  

 
Source:  Lawson and Associates 
 
Cost:  $6600 

 
Study H: Retailer Study  
 

Description:  Focus-group interviews would be conducted with six potential retailers of Conquistador in one county in the market 
area to determine their post beer sales and experience and their intention to stock and sell Conquistador. From these 
data, a mail questionnaire would be developed and sent to all appropriate retailers in the market area to determine 
similar data.  

 
Source:  Lawson and Associates 
 
Cost:  $3600 

 
Study I: Surveyor Retail and Wholesale Beer Prices  
 

Description:  Study I involves in-store interviews with a sample of fifteen retailers in the market area to determine retail and 
wholesale prices for Budweiser, Hamms, Michelob, Olympia, and a low-price beer.  

 
Source:  Lawson and Associates 
 
Cost:  $3600 

 
Examples of the form of final report tables are shown in Exhibit 1-3. This should give you a better idea of the data you will receive.  
 
As you can see, the research is extensive and, I might add, not cheap. However, the research as outlined will supply you with sufficient 
information to make an estimate of the feasibility of a Conquistador distributorship, the investment in which is substantial.  
I have scheduled 9:00 AM next Friday to meet with you to discuss the proposal in detail. Time is short, but we firmly feel the study can be 
completed by February 20, 1999. If you need more information in the meantime, please feel free to call.  
 
Sincerely,   
John Rome  
Senior Research Analyst 
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Exhibit 1-3 
Examples of Final Research Report Tables 
Table A:  National and Oregon Resident Annual Beer Consumption 
      
 US  Oregon 
Year Entire Over 21  Entire  Over 21 
 Population   Population  
1996      
1997      
1998      
Average      
Source: Study A 
 
 
 
Table B:  Population Estimates for Five Oregon Counties in Market Area 
       
Entire Population      
County 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 
A       
B       
C       
D       
E       
Total       
       
21 and over      
County 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 
A       
B       
C       
D       
E       
Total       
Source: Study B 
 
 
 
Table C:  Conquistador  Market Share Estimates 
  
Year Market  
  Share (%) 
1998  
1999  
2000  
2001  
2002  
2003  
Source:  Study C 
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Table D:  Liquor and Beer License Estimates for Market Area  
       
Type of License 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 
All Beverages       
Retail Beer and Wine       
Off-Premise Beer Only       
Veterans Beer & Liquor       
Fraternal       
Resort Beer and Liquor       
Source: Study D 
 
 
 
 
Table E:  Beer Taxes Paid by Beer Wholesalers 
in the Market Area, 1997-1998 
   
Wholesaler 1997 Tax $ 1998 Tax $ 
A   
B   
C   
D   
E   
Total   
Source:  Study E 
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Study F:  Financial Statement Summary for 152 Wholesalers of Wine, Liquor, and Beer 1998 
    
Assets %   
Cash & Equivalents    
Accounts & Notes Receivable, Net    
Inventory    
All other Current    
     Total Current    
Fixed Assets Net    
Intangibles Net    
     All Other Non-Current    
TOTAL 100.0%   
    
    
Liabilities % Ratios % 
Notes Payable Short Term  Quick  
Current Maturity LT Debt Accts  Current  
& Notes Payable-Trade  Debts/Worth  
Accrued Expenses  Sales/Receivables  
All Other Current  Costs of Sales/Inventory  
Total Current  % Profit Before Taxes  
Long Term Debt  Based on Total Assets       
All Other Non-current    
Net Worth    
Total Liabilities & Net Worth 100.0%   
    
    
Income Data    
Net Sales    
Cost of Sales    
     Gross Profit    
Operating Expenses    
Operating Profit    
All Other Expenses Net    
Profit Before Taxes    
    
Source: Study F (Robert Morris Associates, Copyright © 1999). 
 
Various disclaimers:  

1. Only companies with a chance of being included in Table F are those for whom their 
submitting banks have recent figures. 

2. Even within this group, those chosen, and the total number chosen, were not chosen randomly 
or in a statistically projectable way. 

3. Many companies in Table F have varied product lines.  Bankers have categorized them by 
primary product line and some impurity results.  Thus, figures should not automatically be 
considered as representative. 
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Table G:  Consumer Questionnaire Results       
          
    Yes No     
Consumed Conquistador in the Past: % %     
          
Attitudes Toward Conquistador %   Usually Buy Beer at:  % 
Strongly Like      Liquor Stores   
Like      Taverns and Bars   
Indifferent/No Opinion     Supermarkets   
Dislike      Corner Grocery   
Strongly Dislike     Total   100.0 
Total   100.0       
          
          
Weekly Beer Consumption %   Features Considered Important 
Less than 1 can     When Buying Beer  % 
1-2 cans      Taste    
3-4 cans      Brand Name   
5-6 cans      Price    
7-8 cans      Store Location   
9 + cans      Advertising   
Total   100.0   Carbonation   
      Other    
      Total   100.0 
Intention to Buy Conquistador %       
Certainly will          
Maybe will          
Not sure          
Maybe will not          
Certainly will not         
Total   100.0       
          
          
          
Semantic Differential Scale        
          
   Some- Some-      
 Extremely Very what what Very  Extremely    
Masculine       Feminine   
Healthful       Unhealthful  
Cheap       Expensive   
Strong       Weak   
Old-fashioned      New   
Upper Class       Lower Class  
Good Taste       Bad Taste   
Source: Study G 
Profiles would be provided for Conquistador, three competing beers, and an ideal beer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table H:  Retailer Questionnaire Results      
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Brands of Beer Carried %  1998 Beer Sales  % 
Olympia     Olympia    
Budweiser     Budweiser    
Rainer     Rainer    
Hamms     Hamms    
Brand E     Brand E    
Brand F     Brand F    
Brand G     Brand G    
     Others    
     Total   100.0 
         
         
         
Semantic Differential Scale       
         
   Some- Some-     
 Extremely Very what what Very  Extremely   
Masculine       Feminine  
Healthful       Unhealthful 
Cheap       Expensive  
Strong       Weak  
Old-fashioned      New  
Upper Class      Lower Class 
Good Taste      Bad Taste  
         
         
         
Intention to Sell Conquistador %      
Certainly will        
Maybe will        
Not sure         
Maybe will not        
Certainly will not        
Total   100.0      
Source: Study H 
Profiles would be provided for Conquistador, three competing beers, and an ideal beer. 
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Table I:  Retail and Wholesale Prices for Selected Beers in the Market Area 
   
 Wholesalea Retailb 
Beer 6-pack $ 6-pack $ 
Budweiser   
Hamms   
Michelob   
Olympia   
Low Price Special   
Source:  Study I 
aPrice that the wholesaler sold to retailers. 
bPrice that the retailer sold to consumers. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

______________________________________________________________ 
Accounting and Finance for Non-financial Managers - Justin Spencer-Young 2014 

  

88 

22. Course Readings 
 
 
22.1 Reading 1 Amazom.com Profitability 

 
22.2 Reading 2 Apple Computers Financial Performance 

 
22.3 Reading 3 What’s Your Real Cost of Capital? 
 
 
 
23. Slides 
See separate attachment 

 
 

24. References and Sources 
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Managers – An Introduction; 

3. Zidel, D.: Slides; 
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